
SERVICES, 

INC., a 
Delaware corporation, 

Defendant. 

Civil Action No. 

COMPLAINT FOR CIVIL PENAL TIES, PERMANENT 
INJUNCTION, AND OTHER EqiDTABLE RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the United States of America, acting upon notification and authorization of the 

Attomey General by the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"), for its Complaint alleges: 

1. Plaintiffbrings this action under sections 5(a), 5(m)(l)(A), 13(b), 16(a)(l), and 19 

of the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Acf'), 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(l)(A), 53(b), 

56(a)(l), and 57b; and section 62I(a) of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (''FCRA"), 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681 s( a), to obtain monetary civil penalties and injunctive or other relief for violations of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 57b; the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681x, as amended by 

sections 211 and 312 ofthe Fair and Accurate Creait Transactions Act of2003, Pub. L. No. 108-

159, 117 Stat. 1952 (2003) ("FACT Act") and by sections 1061 and 1088 of the Dodd-Frank 

Wall Street R~form and Consumer Protection Act, Pub. L. 111-203, 124 Stat. 1376 (2010) 

(codified in scattered sections of 12 U.S.C.) ("Dodd-Frank Act"); the Free Annual File 

Disclosures Rule, 16 C.F.~.J 610, issued pursuant to section 612(a)(l)(C)(i) of the FCRA, 15 

!$' U.S.C. § 1681j(a)(l)(C)(i), and recodified as Duties of Consumer Reporting Agencies Regarding 

Disclosures to Consumers, 12 C.F .R. § 1022, subpart N; and the Duties of Furnishers of 
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Information to Consumer Reporting Agencies Ru1e, 16 C.F.R. § 660, issued pursuant to section 

623(e)(l) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(e)(1), and recodified as Duties ofFurnishers of 

Information, 12 C.F.R. § 1022, subpart E. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

': 2. __ This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S. C. 

§§ 1331, 1337(a), 1345, and 1355, and under 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(A), 53(b), 56(a), 1681s, 

and 16921. 

3. 4770Tc 435317.1746 a 
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reappearance of deleted information; and promptly providing notice to 

the consumer of the results of1ts investigation. 

Sections 607(b), 611 of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681e(b), 1681i. 

12. Certegy also is now and has been a "nationwide specialty consumer reporting 

a:gency;'' which is defined in section 603(x) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(x), as "a consumer 

reporting agency that compiles and maintains files on consumers on a nationwide basis relating 

to: (1) medical records or payments; (2) residential or tenant history; (3) check writing his~ory; 

( 4) employment history; or ( 5) insurance claims." Certegy compiles and maintains files relating 

to, inter alia, the check-writing history of individuals who reside in most, if not all, of the fifty 

United States and the District of Columbia. 

13. The FCRA imposes several obligations upon nationwide specialty CRAs, 

including an obligation to provide to each consumer a free annual disclosure of information in 

the consumer's file ("annual file disclosure''). The FCRA further requires that nationwide 
' 

specialty CRAs have a streamlined process for accepting and processing consumer requests for . 

annual file disclosures that is designed, funded, implemented, maintained, and operated in 

manner that collects only as much personal information as is necessary to properly identify the 

consumer. 16 C.F.R. § 610.3,recodified at 12 C.F.R. § 1022.137. 

14. Certegy also is now and has been a·''fu.nlisher of information" to CRAs, as 

described in section 623(a)(2)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(a)(2)(A), because it 

''regularly and in the ordinary course ofbusiness furnishes information to one or more CRAs" 

about its "transactions or experiences" with consumers. Certegy regularly reports information to 

Equifax, which is another CRA, as defined in section 603(f) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f). 

I 
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reinvestigation to consumers rather than fulfilling its legal obligation to reinvestigate disputed 

information. For example: 

a. If a consumer disputes that he has a returned check from a particular 

merchant, Certegy requires the consumer to contact the merchant himself to 

resolve the dispute; 

b. When the decline is the result of 
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b) Fails to provide, before the expiration of the five-business-day period 

beginning on the date on which Certegy receives notice of a dispute 

from any consumer, notification of the dispute to any furnisher of 

disputed information, at the address and in the manner established with 

the person, including an relevant information regarding the dispute 

that Certegy has received from the consumer; 

c) Fails to notify the consumer, within five business days, by mail or 

other means authorized by the consumer for that purpose, when it has 

terminated a reinvestigation of information disputed by a consumer, 

because it reasonably determined that the consumer's dispute was 

frivolous or irrelevant; 

d) After conducting a reinvestigation of information disputed by a 

consumer and finding that an item of information is inaccurate, 

incomplete, or cannot be verified, fails to: 

1. promptly delete or modify an item of information from the 

consumer's file, as appropriate; and/or 

n. promptly notify the furnisher of that information that the 

information has been modified or deleted from the consumer's 

file; 

e) Fails to maintain reasonable procedures designed to prevent the 

reappearance in a consumer's file, and in consumer reports on the 

,con.sumer, of information that is deleted pursuant to a reinvestigation. 

As a result, if a merchant subsequently re-reports to Certegy 

-9-
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information that Certegy previously deleted, Certegy will include this 

information in its consumer file because it has no system or procedure 

to verify whether the information was previously determined to be 

inaccurate or unverifiable; and 

f) Fails to provide written notice to a consumer of the results of a 

reinvestigation not later than five business days after the completion of 

the reinvestigation. 

Consumer File Disclosures and Streamlined Process 

23. Section 612(a)(2) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681j(a)(2), requires CRAs to 

"provide a consumer report under paragraph (I) not later than 15 days after the date on which the 

request is received," and paragraph (1), in turn, requires nationwide specialty CRAs to comply 

with the regulations prescribed pursuant to section 612(a)(l)(C) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1681j(a)(I)(C). 

24. The Free Annual File Disclosures Rule~ 16 C.F.R. § 610, recodified as Duties of. 

Consumer Reporting 
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COUNT 
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40. Pursuant to section 621(a)(l) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 168Is(a)(l), the acts and 

practices alleged in paragraph 39 also constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation 

of section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a). 

INJUNCTION FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT AND FCRA 

41~ Under section 621(a) ofthe FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a), and section 13(b) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), this Court is authorized to issue a permanent injunction to ensure 

that Certegy will not continue to violate the FTC Act, and the FCRA. 

EQIDT ABLE RELIEF FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT AND FCRA 

42. Under section 621(a) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a) and section 13(b) of the 

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), this Court is authorized to issue all equitable and ancillary relief as 

it may deem. appropriate in the enforcement of the FTC Act and the FCRA, including the ability 

to order rescission or reformation of contracts, restitUtion, the refund of monies paid, and 

disgorgement to deprive a wrongdoer of ill-gotten gain. 

CIVIL PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FCRA 

43. Section 621(a)(2)(A) of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681s(a)(2)(A), authorizes the 

· Court to award monetary civil penalties in the event of a knowing violation, which constitutes a 

pattern or practice of violations. Certegy's violations of sections 607, 611, and 612, all as 

alleged in this Complaint, were knowing and constituted a pattern or practice of violations. As 

specified by the Federal Civil Penalty Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990; 28 U.S.C. § 2861, as 

amended, the Court i_s authorized to award a penalty of not more than $2,500 per violation for 

violations occurring before February 10, 2009, and $3,500 per violation for viol~tions occurring 

on or after that date. 

44. Each instance in which Certegy has failed to comply with the FCRA in one or 

more of the ways wp36escribcified more 
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assessing monetary civil penalties undef'Section 621 of the 






